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Hearing commenced at 2.08 pm 
 
 
BUTCHER, MS BRONWYN 
Frontline Recruiting, 
38 Denis Street,  
Subiaco, 6008, examined: 
 
SEATON, MS TAMRA 
Solicitor, Franchising, Norton Rose, 
Level 39, 108 St Georges Terrace, 
Perth, 6000, examined: 
 
STRINGER, MR MICHAEL JOHN 
Co-director, MPower Franchising Pty Ltd, 
PO Box 116, Floreat Forum, 
Floreat, 6014, examined: 
 
WRIGHT, MR STEVE 
Executive Director, Franchise Council of Australia, 
PO Box 2195,  
Malvern East, 3145, examined: 
 
 
The CHAIRMAN: Thank you for your appearance before the committee today. This committee 
hearing is a proceeding of Parliament and warrants the same respect that the proceedings in the 
house itself demand. Even though you are not required to give evidence on oath, any deliberate 
misleading of the committee may be regarded as contempt of Parliament. Before we commence, 
there are a few procedural questions I need to ask you. Have you completed the “Details of 
Witness” form? 
The Witnesses: Yes. 
The CHAIRMAN: Do you understand the notes at the bottom of the form?  
The Witnesses: Yes. 
The CHAIRMAN: I have to say these things! Did you receive and read the information for 
witnesses briefing sheet regarding giving evidence before a parliamentary committee? 
The Witnesses: Yes. 
The CHAIRMAN: Do you have any questions about appearing before the parliamentary 
committee? 
The Witnesses: No. 
The CHAIRMAN: Do you wish to propose any amendments to your submission? 
The Witnesses: No. 
The CHAIRMAN: Before we begin asking questions, do you wish to make an opening statement? 
Mr Wright: Yes, please, Mr Chairman. I would like to begin, if I can, by picking up a little bit of 
the thread of conversation from the earlier two sessions. 
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The CHAIRMAN: That is including the Law Council — 
Mr Wright: Yes, although I think possibly that which I want to talk about here is going to be 
picked up by Competitive Foods on the way through as well, but there were a number of things. I 
am sure my colleagues will have noticed things that I have overlooked. To begin with, I would like 
to pick up a few points. To begin with, Mr Cowin is undoubtedly royalty in franchising in this 
country; he is probably its most successful exponent by the length of the street, so there is 
absolutely no lack of respect for his achievements and we are also very pleased to note that he has 
given a very big tick to the franchising model in his evidence just a little while ago. I would like to 
offer you some offering on what that comparison is, franchising versus non-franchising, which you 
were asking about, Mr Chairman. We cannot give a direct comparison because the ABS is the only 
place where you can rely on statistics—what they do publish though is information on business 
failure. Franchising is in the small business sector. In small business, on average, about 45 per cent 
of businesses go broke within the first two years and 75 per cent of them go broke within the first 
three to four years. In franchising, the average term of a contract, of a franchising agreement, is just 
a little below seven years and there is an ongoing new agreement or other relationship strike up in 
about 99 per cent of cases—95 per cent actually proceed; 99 per cent of those who choose to. So, 
you have actually got 95 or 99 per cent success rate, depending on which way you want to cut it, 
over a seven-year contract versus three quarters going broke within three to four years. The 
suggestion that Mr Abetz made that the franchising contract cannot work without the proposed 
amendments is clearly not true. The fact is that franchising has been highly successful as a business 
model for as long as Mr Cowin has been doing it in Western Australia, and as long in other parts of 
the country. 
[2.12 pm] 
The CHAIRMAN: Could you give me a bit of data on how many franchisees would be in, let us 
say, Western Australia? 
Mr Wright: In Western Australia, about 10 000 is an estimate. We do not know the— 
The CHAIRMAN: What percentage of small businesses would you have? Would you be able to 
answer that? 
Mr Wright: The percentage in small business terms is fairly small in number, because there is only 
about 1000 franchising systems across the country—70 000 franchisees, mind you. In terms of, if 
you like, penetration of the business market—franchising as a proportion of the whole business 
market—there are2 million small businesses. You can do the sums yourself. But the thing that is 
worth noting about that is that in Australia it is the highest of anywhere else in the world. Our 
franchising model is working very well compared with everywhere else in the world, particularly 
compared to the United States and some other countries where franchising disputes run at a much 
higher rate than they do in this country. Part of the reason for that is because we think we have got a 
very well-established framework. 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: Could I just ask: what do you mean by franchising dispute? 
Mr Wright: There is a measure that is regarded as a dispute is when it gets to a point where 
franchisor and franchisee are beyond an argument about some particular thing, which happens at a 
day-to-day basis, as it would in any partnership. But a dispute is where there is, if you like, an 
acknowledgement on the part of the franchisor and franchisee that they need to get something 
resolved. It will either be done one-to-one or it will go to a mediation process, remembering that 
mediation is mandatory under the Australian system—something which does not exist in the United 
States and many other countries. 
Mr M.P. MURRAY: You are saying that it is a very good framework, but do you believe the 
framework cannot be improved? 
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Mr Wright: No, I never say that. In fact we wholeheartedly supported the most recent changes 
which occurred in 1 July last year. Those changes picked up eight of the 11 recommendations of the 
Ripoll report. The Ripoll report was not ignored by the government. What it did not do was pick up 
the good faith idea. An eminent panel of trade practices experts addressed that question very 
directly at the request of the government. They came to the conclusion that this would not be 
something which would deliver what those who were proposing it hoped. Like many 
organisations—like the Law Council, like the Queensland Law Society, like other organisations that 
we have mentioned in our submission and you have submissions from—they fear that the actual 
result of this will be increased disputation because of an uncertainty about what definition applies. 
Do we have a new definition with this act, or do we have the existing one which exists under the 
common law and has been tested, including by companies including Competitive Foods? The 
imbalance of power statement is not right. There is no imbalance of power. Both of the parties to 
the contract have the same powers under law. What is true is the case that the contracts frequently 
stipulate a lot about behaviour. That is necessary in order to maintain discipline. It is an essential 
element of the franchising model. It is not right to say that a franchisor or a franchisee can at will 
vary the terms of that agreement, that contract, and not have the prospect of a recourse from the 
other party; that recourse is available. By the way, it is exercised. Jim’s was quoted as an example 
of support for this concept, and yet Jim is one person who, because his master franchisees said, “We 
are not happy with the way you are suggesting changes,” was forced to back down from his 
suggested changes to his own system. 
Mr P. ABETZ: That is because he has a system, I think you should also add, that in Jim’s 
franchising contract, if 50 per cent of the franchisees disagree with a change that he wants to 
implement, he has to withdraw it. I am not sure there are many franchises that have that. 
Ms Butcher: Our system has it. 
Mr Wright: In any system where there are many franchisees and one franchisor, the commercial 
reality is that many have a lot of power. By the way, there was also a mention on this topic of the 
fact that legal representation can be available to these big franchisors. I would say 80 per cent, 
perhaps even 90 per cent, of franchisors could not afford to hire Atanaskovic Hartnell. The fact that 
Atanaskovic Hartnell is representing Wendy’s franchisees at the moment is because they have 
banded together against what the franchisor was doing. They are exercising their power. Mind you, 
to my knowledge, that is being conducted through a mediation exercise, which I think is a very 
good thing. 
Mr I.C. BLAYNEY: Sorry, what is this Atanaskovic Hartnell? 
Mr Wright: The person who was sitting in this seat previously is a partner at Atanaskovic Hartnell. 
He is not actually at Competitive Foods. 
Mr I.C. BLAYNEY: Yes, he said that. 
Mr Wright: His nameplate said Competitive Foods. 
Mr M.P. MURRAY: Just before you go on, you just used an example. Could you explain a little 
bit about the Wendy’s example where the franchisees have banded together. Why would they want 
to do that? There is obviously something wrong within the system.  
Mr Wright: No, because there was a major change mooted by their franchisor, and they were not 
convinced that that would be in their interests.  
Mr M.P. MURRAY: Those people thought it was unfair. That is where the balance of fairness—
where does that come out— 
Mr Wright: Whether or not they thought it fair or not is not in question. It was what they thought 
was in their commercial interests to do, and so that is what they did. 
Mr M.P. MURRAY: If it was not in your commercial interest, it would not be fair. 
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Mr Wright: That is not necessarily true. 
Mr M.P. MURRAY: You can be smartie here. If you want to play, we will play. I am telling you 
right now: if you want to be a smartie, that is fine. 
Ms Butcher: Mr Murray, I could probably answer that from a franchisee’s point of view. 
Obviously I have worked within the franchise systems now for about 15 years. I have also been a 
small business owner, so I have had the woes of owning a franchise system and not owning a 
franchise system. The reason I bought a franchise was to buy the support and the protection of a 
business. Having owned a small business before, you do not have the same monopoly that you have 
if you own a franchise system. I will just use this as an example, because it has happened in our 
system. Franchisees that band together are generally the ones that are underperforming, have cash 
flow problems — 
[2.20 pm] 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: What evidence do you have for that?  
Ms Butcher: Well, I am just using an example of what has happened in my system.  
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: What system is that? 
Ms Butcher: It is a recruitment agency system—Frontline Recruitment Group. 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: You are the franchisor or the franchisee? 
Ms Butcher: I am a franchisee. 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: How do you make a judgement about the business performance of other 
franchisees?  
Ms Butcher: We have an open door. All our information is open for everyone to see. Our figures, 
our results—everything is transparent. We also have quarterly reviews, annual reviews, biannual 
reviews, quarterly conferences and everything is discussed quite openly, so we have a very open 
system. 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: The only people who have a problem are people who are not working 
hard?  
Ms Butcher: I am saying that when franchisees tend to gather together, in my experience and in the 
experience I have witnessed within our system—I have owned a food franchise before as well—I 
have found that those franchisees are generally people who are not compliant with the franchise 
agreement. The effect that has on me as a franchisee is that it devalues my business, it damages the 
brand and it does not actually — 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: Why do you think these people act in the way they do?  
Ms Butcher: That is a good question actually. I have several answers to that.  
The CHAIRMAN: What you have stated is that people band together to take collective action 
because they have an incentive to do so. They have problems.  
Ms Butcher: They do. Yes; that is correct? 
The CHAIRMAN: Those problems might be cash flow or management business or an issue with 
the franchisor.  
Ms Butcher: They could; absolutely.  
The CHAIRMAN: What you are saying is not surprising; it is just commonsense.  
Ms Butcher: Exactly.  
Mr Wright: I can give another example to illustrate that. It was also said at one point that 
franchisors have no skin in the game. I will cite the Midas example, which was a very successful 
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system; which ran into difficulties for lots of different reasons. I do not need to go into them. The 
point is that the creator of that system went into a situation in which his franchisees banded together 
and decided not to pay their royalties, so he had no income. He had skin in the game and he lost it 
all. The group went into liquidation and the bank, which had previously had a minority stake in the 
company emerged as a 100 per cent holder of the company.  
Mr P. ABETZ: Why did they band together; why did they refuse to pay their royalties?  
Mr Wright: Because they were dissatisfied with what the franchisor was doing, so there are 
avenues available.  
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: Hang on a second. You are using this as an example. What you are doing is 
dangerous. You are being very, very silly in my opinion in the way you are presenting your 
evidence. You have said that this is an example of why the law is not needed. I am not quite sure 
what you are getting at because if that guy was being picked on by his franchisees, why did he not 
sue them? If there was a breach of contract why did he not enforce his contract? 
Mr Wright: He required income to service his debt. They did not agree with some business 
decisions he took about the investment in some retooling for gas conversion. 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: Welcome to the real world. Is that not what happens?  
Mr Wright: The real world was that he did have skin in the game and he lost it. My point is not 
that they were doing the right thing or he was doing the right thing; but purely that the capacity is 
available to franchisees, so to suggest that they have no power — 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: That is not an example at all. 
The CHAIRMAN: We have limited time here. You wanted to address some general points that 
other people made. Please do that but please do not go to particular cases.  
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: Unless you are prepared to provide some evidence? 
The CHAIRMAN: We do not have the details on that. I think your last point was that there are 
remedies in collective action by franchisees. 
Mr Wright: Yes. 
The CHAIRMAN: That is your central point. Under the system we have now, franchisees can band 
together to take action.  
Mr Wright: Yes. My central point was that it is not the case that this is a purely one-sided thing 
whereby they have no power. It is illustrating that that is not true.  
The CHAIRMAN: Do not bring in other cases.  
Mr Wright: Understood, Mr Chairman. 
The CHAIRMAN: We have no capacity to verify whether or not they are appropriate or otherwise.  
Mr Wright: One other point was that fit-out is used as a device to exit people out of the system. 
This is not common in my knowledge and I would expect from colleagues, because it does not 
make economic sense.  
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: How many times do you think it has happened?  
Mr Wright: I do not know precisely. 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: You agree that it happens?  
Mr Wright: I do not agree that it is common. That is what was submitted.  
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: But it does happen. That is what I am asking.  
Mr Stringer: I think that would be true. It does happen and probably in more cases, from what I am 
told—I am not a retail franchisor—it happens more by shopping centres stating that you have to do 
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up your store because it does not fit in with the overall image. It is not often driven by the 
franchisor. It is quite often driven by the location. 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: Indeed. It is usually in a retail lease, such as a Westfield lease, that every 
five years you have to refit. 
Mr Stringer: Yes, you have to renew. 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: But Mr Wright, your submission is that there are franchisors who use 
capricious behaviour in respect of fit-out as a way of exiting franchisees.  
Mr Wright: No; it is not.  
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: You said that there were some occasions on which it occurs.  
Mr Wright: No, I did not; you put words in my mouth. 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: No; that is exactly what you said. 
Mr Wright: I said it is not common.  
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: If it is not common, that means it does happen. 
Mr P. ABETZ: Have you read the Ripoll inquiry submissions?  
Mr Wright: I have.  
Mr P. ABETZ: I suggest you read them again.  
Mr Wright: I have read the many allegations. But I think that what Mr Ripoll said at the conclusion 
of his report, as did others, it is difficult to determine the veracity in every case because, quite often 
there is not supporting evidence. By the way, that is what the ACCC has said publicly. By the way 
what I was getting to is that “churn” is the bottom line of this accusation—the idea that a franchisor 
will deliberately force somebody out of business to buy back that business. I believe the ACCC 
regards that as unconscionable conduct and would act on it if it were able to. I believe also that 
allegation was levelled against Bakers Delight and there was a nine to 10-month investigation 
carried out by the ACCC at the end of which, the chairman of the ACCC said, “I can find no 
wrongdoing on the part of Bakers Delight. The allegation is not supported. What this teaches me is 
that where there is smoke there is not always fire.” The chairman of the ACCC put this into a press 
release.  
Mr P. ABETZ: Would you care to tell us how many franchising cases — 
The CHAIRMAN: Mr Wright, rather than go through what other people said—that is the 
committee’s task—your task is to make points that you wish to make with respect to the terms of 
reference, not have that debate more widely.  
Mr Wright: Thank you, Mr Chairman. In that case I will make only three points: the submissions 
we have put and which we have read publicly and have been put by others are in the majority 
against the concept of this bill. They question in many cases whether benefits will actually flow as 
planned, and we share that uncertainty. We detect that there is no desire amongst the majority of the 
franchising community in Western Australia for this bill and we submit that it is not clearly 
established that there is in fact a need for it.  
The CHAIRMAN: Anyone else?  
Mr Stringer: I have sat through the last hour or so. I have to disclose that I am a franchisor within a 
service industry. We have about 270 franchisees. The point that keeps coming through is that there 
seems to be this imbalance of power between franchisors and all franchisors seem to be put up here 
and all franchisees down here. Speaking from a franchisor’s point of view, I am a ma and pa. My 
wife and I run that business on our own. We are not a big company. With 275 service franchisees, 
there are still just two of us. That is all the staff we can afford to run that business. We have 10, 20, 
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30 or 40 times the level of investment in our business that a franchisee has. A franchisee in our 
system spends $15 000 or $20 000, typically.  
The CHAIRMAN: What type of business do you have?  
Mr Stringer: From cleaning to car detailing. It is a mobile-type business. We are probably typical 
of a lot of the franchisors in this business. I think that is the bit that seems to get missed. We talk 
about the big brands—KFC, Hungry Jacks, Bakers Delight and Midas. These people are very, very 
big. Most franchisors are small ma and pa operations, to use the term used before.  
The CHAIRMAN: Can you provide us some data on the composition? It would be very interesting.  
Mr Stringer: I did provide that in part of my submission. As a franchisor we take about two per 
cent off the gross income. Again, when we talk about the split, in our system 90-odd per cent of the 
revenue goes to the franchisee doing the work. There is already a reasonable balance: the person 
doing the work, as I think Mr Castle pointed out, the ones with skin in the game or the ones who 
actually build the business. As a franchisor we have invested in not only buying the business in our 
case, but any franchisor would exceed probably $100 000 or $200 000 setting up a business. They 
have put skin in the game; they have tested the market, to use the expression. To do that they have 
had to prove that the system works. So that little bit spills down to us as franchisors. When we talk 
about abuse of power, or this inequality, in our systems, one of the biggest challenges we have is 
that people take our know-how. When you buy a cleaning franchise, we show you how to get work; 
we get the work for you. We show you how to clean. We show you how to run your business. Then, 
when you have taken everything, you as a franchisee almost have the right just to say, “I’ll take off 
all your decals; you can have your manual back. I know how to do it now. I don’t need to pay you 
anymore.” 
[2.30 pm] 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: Under your franchise agreement, is that permitted by a franchisee? 
Mr Stringer: It is not permitted, no. But, again, although we have this power, if I talk to a lawyer, 
they will tell me that to prove—we have a non-competitive clause, restraint of trade, you might 
want to call it. The start cost is not the $10 that obviously Mr Castle charges out. It is $50 000. That 
is the start cost for us to even try to implement a restraint of trade. So we tend to, unfortunately, just 
roll over. We have no choice. 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: Do you think that the franchisees who are doing that are acting in good 
faith? 
Mr Stringer: Not at all.  
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: Do you think that it would be an improvement to require them to act in 
good faith? 
Mr Stringer: It would be an improvement if you could. This is what it always come down to—the 
definition. I suppose where I have a problem is that most people feel that they are dealing fairly, 
reasonably and cooperatively. 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: So what is your definition? 
Mr Stringer: The problem is that we cannot define it, because it is two sides of the fence. You are 
politicians. You see two sides of the fence, and you argue over things in good faith. It is what you 
believe to be the case. So it is not that they are not acting in good faith or we are not acting in good 
faith. We come at it from a different angle. That is why I always say to franchisees that we have a 
different approach. My job—part of my main job—is to protect the investment of all the other 
franchisees in our system. A rogue franchisee, or franchisor, can affect the investment of all the 
other franchisees. As far as I am concerned, my main role is to protect that investment from others. 
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Mr P. ABETZ: It is an interesting question. The bill provides that if you go to the commissioner 
and show that your franchisee has not acted in good faith, or has not acted according to the 
franchising code of conduct and so on, and if the commissioner looks at the case and says, “Yes, I 
can see that your former franchisee has taken the decals off his van and has gone into business on 
his own; he is in breach”, then the commissioner can launch a prosecution against your franchisee, 
and he can then be fined to whatever level if he is found guilty by the court. You as the franchisor 
do not have to spend one cent. So that it would actually help to clean up the industry, because it 
would send the message to rogue franchisees that they cannot do this kind of behaviour. 
Mr Stringer: That is a very good point. I defer to the lawyer over there, because this is exactly 
what I said to her, and I will let Tamra answer the question: from the bill’s point of view, do I have 
that right? 
Ms Seaton: He has the right as it is at the moment. But I think that is an interesting option that 
might become available. 
Mr P. ABETZ: It is in the bill. 
Mr Stringer: But there is a cost. 
Ms Seaton: There will be a cost. 
Mr Stringer: There is a cost to me, but not a cost to the franchisee. 
Mr P. ABETZ: No, because according to the bill, you simply lay the case before the commissioner, 
and if you can convince the commissioner that your franchisee has not acted in good faith, or has 
breached the code of conduct, the commissioner has the power to launch a prosecution. You do not 
need to be involved. 
Ms Seaton: The ACCC has that same right at present, though. 
Mr P. ABETZ: But it does not do it.  
Mr Wright: By the way, I think the proof is in the pudding, regardless of what our view is about 
what franchisors in WA might think. What they think has been submitted to this inquiry. 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: No, that is not right. You should not make that submission. All we have is 
the submissions that we have. You cannot say that therefore that is the view of every single 
franchisor. 
Mr Wright: I am talking about in the context of the submissions that you have received, which are 
unanimously opposed — 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: No, that is not true. It is simply not right.  
Mr P. ABETZ: Many of them are a cut and paste from what was put on your website. 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: But regardless of that, we have the submission from Competitive Foods, 
which is a franchisor.  
Mr Wright: But not in WA.  
Mr P. ABETZ: They said they are both a franchisee and a franchisor. 
Mr Wright: Okay.  
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: You cannot extrapolate just because your organisation makes a 
submission — 
Mr Wright:  Extrapolation is not required. One needs to look simply at the submissions and read 
them. 
Mr P. ABETZ: Mr Chairman, could I ask a question about the submission?  
The CHAIRMAN: Yes. 
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Mr P. ABETZ: Your submission asserts on page 5, and on page 8 at the bottom, that the bill 
contradicts and overrides the federal Trade Practices Act, and ignores the existing state Fair Trading 
Act. Now that you have read the legal opinions—I assume you have read the legal opinions—that 
have been submitted by Daryl Williams, QC, Alan Robertson, SC, and Malcolm McCusker, QC, 
does the FCA still hold that view, or is the FCA willing to concede that it was wrong in making 
these assertions in its submission? 
Mr Wright: Its submission was made absolutely in good faith and with its beliefs stated truly. I am 
not a lawyer, so I cannot interpret those opinions expertly, but I can say, even as a non-lawyer, I can 
tell that those things are addressing very specific questions, and I do not think that they necessarily 
resolve the potential for an overlap.  
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: Were you here when the Law Council of Australia gave their evidence?  
Mr Wright: For part of it, yes.  
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: Were you here when they said they believe the federal legislation neither 
covered the field, nor was the proposed bill directly inconsistent with the Trade Practices Act and 
the franchising code of conduct? Did you hear them make those submissions? 
Mr Wright: I did not. However, I repeat what I said. I do not think that answering that specific 
question necessarily removes the potential for overlap. 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: Sorry. I am not quite sure — 
Mr Wright: If there are two definitions, one in the common law and one in the franchising code, is 
there any potential for overlap? 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: If you are happy, I will ask the question again. The question I am asking 
you is: do you agree with the Law Council when they say that this bill can be passed by the 
Parliament? 
Mr Wright: I do not see any difficulty with that, no. 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: So therefore the law is enforceable in your view? 
Mr Wright: Well, you are asking me as a non-lawyer to agree or disagree with — 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: I am asking the FCA whether they believe the law is enforceable. 
Mr Wright: I believe that what I have read indicates that the Parliament has the right to make the 
law. 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: So it is enforceable? 
Ms Seaton: As I understand it, the law in itself will be valid, but there are certainly some problems 
with the drafting in regard to particular provisions being either inconsistent or unconstitutional, and 
a number of challenges could come our way in that respect. 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: Are you satisfied that the FCA’s submission has enough detail to make 
sure that the committee understands those arguments when we are in deliberation on the bill? 
Mr Wright: I think that if you read the FCA submission and you read other submissions on this 
topic, including the Law Council and the Queensland Law Society, that would give you adequate — 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: But the Law Council and the FCA are disagreeing on this topic. That is 
what I am trying to — 
Mr Wright: I do not know that it could be described as a disagreement. 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: It is clearly a disagreement. The Law Society this morning effectively said 
to us that there was no provision of the bill that was not enforceable. You are saying that there are 
technical issues. I accept that. I am not a lawyer, and you could be 100 per cent right. What I am 
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trying to get to is do you need to make an additional submission on that topic, or are you satisfied 
that your current submission covers your explanation? 
Ms Seaton: I think unfortunately, while we have seen some senior counsel and Queen’s Counsel 
opinion on the one hand that say it is valid and it is consistent and so on, I have also seen a number 
of opinions from QCs and senior counsel that say the opposite. 
Mr P. ABETZ:  So why did you not say that in your submission? 
Mr Wright: Could we take that on notice as an invitation?   
The CHAIRMAN: First, Tamra, you made three statements there about the legal aspect. I would 
like you to—that is why we are here—give us some evidence on that; and if you want to make a 
further submission in your closing statements, I will ask you to do so. I know you would have read 
all the submissions, but particularly on this aspect of the bill, it is very important, so if you think 
there are technical or even authoritative problems with it, please enunciate those. You said that 
there might be some problems with three aspects of the bill. The power of the state to enact the bill I 
think is accepted. But there might be some other issues. 
Ms Seaton: Yes. I am not a constitutional lawyer, so unfortunately I cannot speak to the 
unconstitutional provisions that might apply, but no doubt you are aware that the extraterritorial 
effect of the law has also been questioned by some senior counsel.  
Mr P. ABETZ: We have not been presented with that. 
Ms Seaton: They are opinions that some of my clients have obtained. I am here today with the 
FCA; that is not one of them, unfortunately. But I guess the point I am making is that when you get 
a group of lawyers in the room, you are always going to get them to argue. 
[2.40 pm] 
The CHAIRMAN: But the indication is that you have seen evidence from learned parties that it 
might be unconstitutional. 
Ms Seaton: Yes. 
The CHAIRMAN: We would ask the FCA or some other party to provide us that evidence. 
Ms Seaton: We can do that, if that is a supplementary point. 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: Indeed, Mr Wright, the important issue here is if we are not presented with 
the evidence that you say exists, then clearly we cannot use it to deliberate our findings. If you do 
not submit something, it cannot prevail. 
Mr Wright: That is right. 
The CHAIRMAN: Our deliberations are limited to the evidence we have been provided. 
Mr Wright: Do we take that as an invitation to provide a supplementary submission? 
The CHAIRMAN: Yes.  
Mr Wright: Then we will gladly push that on. 
The CHAIRMAN: Another issue is retrospectivity. 
Ms Seaton: Yes. As I said, I have also seen senior counsel opinion that described the bill as an 
absolute dog, to put it in layman’s terms. As I said, unfortunately, there are going to be arguments 
on both sides of those, but if you would like the FCA to put more in that respect, I am sure we can 
do that. 
Mr Wright: I would be happy to say something on retrospectivity, and that is whilst there is 
discussion of that and I acknowledge it in the submissions which Mr Abetz referred to, there is one 
other way to look at the question of retrospectivity. If it is to apply to all existing agreements, that 
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of itself implies retrospectivity because agreements stretch backwards. If we were to take the 
hypothetical situation — 
Mr P. ABETZ: No. 
Mr Wright: Please let me finish. If we were to take the hypothetical situation of a change to 
fundamental end-of-term arrangements—which have been in place in this sector since it began—if 
that were to change and there were, for instance, an opportunity to sue for damages for non-renewal 
of an agreement, then that would be based on the current agreement, and the current agreement has 
a life which goes backwards. So it would be open to any party that was seeking to take an action 
seeking damages for non-renewal to apply, for instance, a 30-year agreement as that upon which 
they would base their damages claim. Now, that constitutes some degree of retrospectivity of its 
essence, regardless of when you might pick up points in the moment when the bill is introduced. 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: That is a misunderstanding of the provision of retrospectivity. It is about 
enforcement. Let us take a completely different area of the law and one I am familiar with, 
industrial relations. You change the industrial relations laws and it has effect from the moment it 
changes. That is about enforcement; it is not retrospective. Even though it might change the long-
service leave provision, it might give you a benefit for what you have already done, but it is not 
retrospective. 
Ms Seaton: But if it is in respect of the terms of an agreement that are already on foot — 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: Yes, but I mean all changes to the industrial law are about issues on foot. 
The CHAIRMAN: Not all of them; it is a lot of them. 
Mr P. ABETZ: On that basis, even if they change the speed limit on roads for transport companies 
so that a transport contract has retrospectivity, they signed a contract two years ago and it runs for 
another three years. Yet if the speed limit across the Nullarbor is reduced, that increases their time 
of travel; therefore, you could argue that that is a retrospective law as well. That means that law can 
be changed. 
Mr Stringer: I think our understanding is probably that the people who were speeding three years 
ago could not get fined because they were doing 60 when they should have only been doing 50. 
That is a different understanding. 
Mr Wright: Or could not be sued for damages for having done 50 three years ago or 30 years ago. 
Mr P. ABETZ: In the light of the statements of Alan Robertson and Daryl Williams that in their 
legal opinion the bill would not operate retrospectively to impair contractual rights under existing 
agreements, do you agree with that, because they say that it is concerned with the regulation of 
conduct in the future? In the light of these legal opinions, would you agree that the unnamed senior 
legal practitioner that you refer to in your submission on pages 11 and 12, who you quote but do not 
actually name, is in error in your submission? 
Mr Wright: No, because I do not think these two concepts are mutually exclusive. 
Mr P. ABETZ: You are using a different definition of retrospectivity to what is a normal view by 
the sound of that. 
Mr Wright: In my book, if I am facing the potential for a lawsuit about my contract which I drew 
up 30 years ago and that I could face a damages claim for the entirety of that contract, then that has 
a retrospective impact upon me. That is the definition I am thinking of. 
Mr P. ABETZ: Are you prepared to name the legal practitioner who provided the opinion that is in 
your submission? 
Mr Wright: I am unaware of precisely why that name was not included. I will take that on notice 
and give you a response later. 
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The CHAIRMAN: One of the issues that came up before is costs, not so much just on the 
government but on individual franchisees or franchisors of taking action under this bill, as opposed 
to the common law provisions. Can you comment on those? 
Mr Stringer: I think the only comment I could make is it is probably more the up-front costs. There 
has been a lot said I think that there is no extra compliance cost, and a figure of $10 was mentioned 
by Mr Castle. I just do not know where he gets a figure that is that low. The last changes in July last 
year cost us around $10 000. 
The CHAIRMAN: Change to your ordinary contracts? 
Mr Stringer: Changes to the disclosure process: just getting to know what was needed, how to 
implement them into our disclosure documents, the implications of that and the implications of not 
doing it. Lawyers, with all due respect, are not cheap; they do not charge $10. That is about a two-
second phone call. 
Ms Butcher: Eight minutes actually! 
Mr Stringer: Is it eight minutes? Okay. 
The CHAIRMAN: That is cheap! 
Mr Stringer: So, any compliance has a cost; and as a small business owner, that is straight out of 
your pocket 
The CHAIRMAN: Let us get this on evidence. You changed your compliance because of the 
changes at the commonwealth level. 
Mr Stringer: Changes to the code. 
The CHAIRMAN: To the code, and that cost you in terms of your own, and the rollout to inform 
the franchisees was $10 000. 
Mr Stringer: They do not bear that cost; we do. But that cost us to basically deliver those 
compliance changes, and in amongst that was a lot of stuff about what is going to happen at the end 
of term. I know that came out in the previous discussions. So it is pretty clear now: we have to 
actually state up-front what the intentions are at the end of term. There is not this requirement of, 
“Well, I might just not renew you.” We have to disclose that up-front. In fact, the franchisee in our 
system is always required to give three months’ notice that they intended to proceed. Now this 
requirement is I think six months, so that changed their requirements and we have to change all of 
our internal paperwork. 
The CHAIRMAN: If this bill was enacted and came in, have you thought about what the cost to 
your business would be to inform and to make changes? 
Mr Stringer: Inform? I do not know whether we would be probably informing franchisees. It 
depends on what the bill looked like. If there is no increased requirement to change our disclosure 
of documents, which I would think there probably would be, but let us say there is not, then there is 
no formal process but there is a cost in understanding the implications that this could have. We have 
just discussed it. My belief and my understanding of the bill is slightly different to Mr Abetz’s, and 
therefore the only way I am going to actually get a definition of where I stand as a franchisee is to 
seek legal advice which, as Tamra says, can mean I would probably need to seek in two places so 
that I can make sure they are not different, opposing views. 
Ms Seaton: Certainly I think that most of my clients would seek advice and many of them already 
have about the proposed act. 
Mr Wright: Our submission does include a list of review mechanisms that a lawyer would 
contemplate. One lawyer we mentioned contemplates implementing to make sure that he or she is 
protecting the interests of the client. 
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Mr P. ABETZ: The Law Council acknowledged in their submission that the bill only does two 
things: first, it introduces pecuniary penalties for breaches of the Franchising Code of Conduct, with 
which presumably all franchising agreements are compliant; therefore nothing would need to 
change in your franchising agreements because it is the federal code that is actually there, so there 
are no changes whatsoever. The other thing the bill would do is codify the current common law 
obligation to act in good faith. Currently in common law, franchisors and franchisees must act in 
good faith; that is reasonably well-established, and Justice Rein in several cases spelt out what he 
understood by that and so on.  
[2.50 pm] 
Mr Stringer: Can I just make a point, Mr Abetz? You say it is quite simple but throughout the past 
two hours we have not been able to clearly define this. Mr Castle said that ordinary people 
understand what it means. I do not think that is the case. I do not think that ordinary people, or even 
unordinary people, can determine what is “acting in good faith”. We would have to go through a 
number of scenarios and say, “Is it reasonable for a franchisee who withholds payment of their fees 
to withhold a lease from them?” Is that acting in good faith? I have that dilemma every week. Is it 
reasonable for me to say to a franchisee who does not keep their van clean that they are letting 
everybody else down and I am going to issue a breach in their franchise? Is that reasonable or 
should I give them two days or a week to fix it up? There will be a lot of discussion over those 
terms of reasonable, honestly and cooperatively as a franchisor that we need to clearly understand. 
That means any scenario. I can give you hundreds, as you probably could. 
Mr P. ABETZ: I do not have any problem with that. The current obligation is to act in good faith. 
We were told it is still an evolving concept in common law. For franchisees and franchisors, the 
common law obligation to act in good faith is far more nebulous and ill-defined than something that 
is in law that says “You must act fairly, reasonably, honestly and cooperatively.” Those words, as 
Daryl Williams in his legal opinion says, are words that are commonly understood. If there is a 
dispute, eventually it can go to court and the judge will have to make a decision as to whether it is 
fair, reasonable, honest or whatever. That is what courts are for—to make those judgements. 
Whenever we make a law, there will always have to be an interpretation and weighing up of things. 
Is that reasonable or is that not reasonable? But the point is, by putting this into legislation, Joe 
Bloggs who buys a franchise is aware that he must act fairly, honestly, reasonably and 
cooperatively.  
Mr Stringer: He is supposed to do that now. He already knows that.  
Mr P. ABETZ: The difficulty is that because it is common law, the franchisee or franchisor has to 
go to court to sue and the judge then has to rule. Does it actually apply? That takes days, or hours at 
least, of legal argument in a court to achieve. Justice Rein, in the two cases that I mentioned, says, 
yes, it does, and then on the basis of that, the court case proceeds.  
Ms Seaton: I do not think things will change in that respect. I am sure we will see litigation about 
what these new four words mean, particularly “cooperatively”, which as a lawyer I am particularly 
concerned about. I like the analogy that the chair used about redundancy. I do not think many 
redundancies are ever cooperative. The same would apply in the franchising context. 
Mr Wright: Can I add a thought that I have on this? I have a bit of difficulty with the logic of it. If 
it is not imposing anything different and there is no change, therefore, what is the point? If it is 
proposing something different to address behaviour that is different so therefore you potentially 
have two definitions—one which is evolving in the common law and the new one—in that situation, 
the lawyers will fail. Our point is that no matter which perspective you look at it from, you will be 
providing a platform for a new argument.  
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: That is the great thing about Parliament; we get to decide these things.  
Mr Wright: After a good argument.  
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Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: I would like to ask you a question. It has been suggested in the submission 
from Competitive Foods that the Franchise Council did not support the Franchising Code of 
Conduct before it was introduced. Is that correct?  
Mr Wright: This is going back a fair way. It was introduced in 1998. It may be true to say that 
many people in the franchising community were wary of it. I do not think there was ever an “FCA 
opposes”. I do not think that ever occurred. 
Mr P. ABETZ: I have documented evidence here to say — 
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: It does not matter whether you have documented evidence. 
Mr Wright: I do know that since then a lot of people have come to understand that the code exists 
for some very constructive reasons, and I acknowledge that.  
The CHAIRMAN: Do you support it now? 
Mr Wright: Yes.  
Mr W.J. JOHNSTON: You would strongly support it? Do you think it provides a workable 
framework around franchise relationships?  
Mr Stringer: Totally. It is not perfect. The only thing I would say, going back to what I said at the 
outset, is that from a small franchise point of view, I think the more legislation there is, the more 
comprehensive we try to make things: we go from one or two pages and we now get franchisees 
who are in a situation in which it would cost them more to have their thing looked at than it would 
to buy the franchise. They almost get to a point at which they say, “I’ll sign it and hope”, and that is 
not good. As the franchisor, we make it very clear and say, “This is here to protect you as a 
franchisee.” For disclosure, we are for it, definitely.  
The CHAIRMAN: You have 200-odd franchisees, and it is not a high-cost entry.  
Mr Stringer: No. 
The CHAIRMAN: It is cleaning and detail—quite low skilled.  
Mr Stringer: Yes, it is low skilled. It takes a week’s training.  
The CHAIRMAN: Do you have very many problems with your franchisees? Do they have many 
problems with you? Do you have a large turnover?  
Mr Stringer: I liken this to the conversation I had the other day. If I had 275 wives, to say that I 
would not have a dispute with one or two of them every couple of years, I would be doing 
remarkably well. We do have a difference of opinion from time to time. I have a great deal of 
respect for the franchisees who do the work. Franchising has given them an opportunity to run a 
small business with, as Steve and Mr Cowin have pointed out, a greater degree of support and 
success. The reason they get that success is that the franchisor is there, if you like, to impart some of 
the knowledge. We also know that when our children, if you have children like I have, get older, 
they do not want to listen sometimes; they want to make their own mistakes. Even though you have 
laid it out and said, “This is the consequence of doing that”, they will still say, “Yes, but I want to 
do it. I want to do it because I know better than you.” I have heard that from all franchisors of very 
big systems. The franchisee says, “No, I am not listening to you. You might have 2 000 franchisees 
but I know better.”  
The CHAIRMAN: We all know that; we are members of political parties. 
Mr Stringer: You only have to watch the football to see that 35 000 or 40 000 people could do the 
job better than John Worsfold or whoever it might be; that is the nature of the relationship. As a 
franchisor, you handle that every day. 
Ms Butcher: That is the common thing that has been missed here. In everything that I have listened 
to here, a lot of the focus has been around franchisors and what they want. As a franchisee, we want 
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relationships. We have to build relationships with our franchisors, and we have to trust them. We 
have to trust that they are doing the right thing by us as franchisees. I have made comments on a 
number of occasions. Yes, there are rogue franchisors, but there are also rogue franchisees. I have 
been in a situation in which you buy a business and you think you know everything and you love 
your franchisor, you love your franchisor, then you hate his guts, then you hate his guts, then you 
love him, then you love him again and then you want to reinvent the wheel and change the whole 
franchise system because you know better. I have done that. I have been there. Was I successful? 
No. Why? Because I had a very strong franchisor who mentored me through that process. They said 
to me, “This is a solid system and this is why we do things the way that we do them.” Yes, I 
received a breach—I am not proud of that—because I did not comply with the franchise agreement. 
From that, I gained knowledge and experience.  
Mr Abetz, I understand where you are going and I understand and appreciate and certainly 
acknowledge why you have brought this bill to WA but we have a national franchising code and it 
is confusing enough for those small business owners. We do not need it. All we need is franchisors 
to work on the development of building relationships. We need training and development. A 
franchisee is not successful for common reasons. I have spoken about those before. They include 
not understanding how to run and manage their own business, how to manage cash flow, how to 
work with customers and how to develop the business. These are all common things that need to be 
worked on, not so much as “this is in good faith” and “this is retrospective”.  
For a franchisee, it is about building relationships. Had this bill been in place 10 years ago when I 
bought into my franchise system, I would have exercised it. I probably would not be where I am 
today. I probably would not be in the franchise system, because it would have been an easy way for 
me to go, “I’m right; you’re wrong. I know better.” It just would not have been a positive outcome. 
In the situation that I was in then, I was forced to work on my own development and work on 
understanding where I was in the franchise system and where my franchisor was coming from. I 
have owned and operated and successfully on-sold several franchise systems within my franchise 
model, but I have also gained a lot of knowledge. This is about building relationships. This is about 
trust. This is about being accountable as a franchisor, but also as a franchisee. No-one forced me to 
sign my franchise agreement. I got legal advice. I understood exactly what I was buying. When the 
GFC hit, I was forced to shut down several of my franchise businesses. Again, I could not be told. 
My franchisor told me six months prior, “Shut them down; lock them down. Cull, cull, cull. Make 
redundancies.” I said, “But they’ve got mortgages.” He said, “No; you’ve got to shut them down.” I 
did not listen to him. As a consequence, I financially suffered. He gave me that advice and he gave 
me that experience and that knowledge. If you want to put a bill together, put a bill together on how 
small businesses and franchise systems can build trust and build relationships with their franchisor 
and their franchisee. 
Mr P. ABETZ: By acting in good faith. 
Ms Seaton: Which they are already obliged to do. 
Ms Butcher: That is right. 
Mr Stringer: I think the point also is that, with the disclosure process we have now with the last 
changes, which are not even a year old yet, a franchisee has at their disposal every single franchise 
in the system. I am sure that every other franchisor tells people that. That is the first thing I say to 
people: “We’re going to tell you our system is the best one in the world because we think it is, but 
there are the 200-odd people. Call them.” There are also the past franchisees — 
The CHAIRMAN: Just to explore that, if I wanted to enter into your business as a franchisee, do I 
have access to data on how you are performing? 
Mr Stringer: Not on how we are performing. 
Ms Butcher: Yes, you do. In our system; I do. 
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Mr P. ABETZ: Most systems do not. 
Mr Stringer: You have the ability to look at numbers — 
Ms Seaton: You can ring them and ask them. 
Mr Stringer: The best way, especially in a smaller system—in any system for that matter; it does 
not matter whether you are spending $15 000 or $400 000 or $500 000—is to talk to existing 
franchisees. That is there; it is fully disclosed—every franchisee in the system and their phone 
number. 
The CHAIRMAN: Do you identify franchisees through brokers or directly? 
Mr Stringer: No, directly. 
The CHAIRMAN: Thanks for your evidence today. A number of questions were raised and we 
would like supplementary information. Also, we would like to know the name of the lawyer or QC 
who was referred to in your submission.  
A transcript of this hearing will be forwarded to you for correction of minor errors. Please make 
these corrections and return the transcript within 10 working days of the covering letter. If the 
transcript is not returned within that period, it is deemed to be correct. New material cannot be 
added or introduced by these corrections and the sense of your evidence cannot be altered. Should 
you wish to provide additional information or elaborate on a particular point, please include 
supplementary information for the committee’s consideration when you return your corrected 
transcript. Thanks very much. 

Hearing concluded at 3.03 pm 


